RECEIVED

Dec 27 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes III, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2023-000891

Eric and Tracy Sherrier, *Appellants,*

v.

The Town of Hilton Head Island Construction Board
of Adjustment and Appeals, and
The Town of Hilton Head Island, *Respondents.*

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

James P. Sullivan, Esquire
South Carolina Bar No. 77436
215 East Bay Street, Suite 303
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 216-6940 (telephone)
(877) 216-6970 (toll-free)
(843) 216-6942 (facsimile)
jsullivan@hnblaw.com
Attorney for Appellants

December 22, 2023

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT SECTION 15-9-312(A) APPLIES TO THE REAR STRUCTURE ON THE SHERRIER PROPERTY.**
- II. THE LOWER COURT AND CBAA ERRED BY RELYING ON INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY IN RENDERING THEIR DECISIONS.**
- III. THE CBAA AND CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED A REVERSIBLE ERROR OF LAW BECAUSE THEIR FINDINGS HAVE NO EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT.**
- IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO ESTOP THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD FROM ISSUING A NOTICE OF VIOLATION AGAINST THE SHERRIERS PURSUANT TO SECTION 15-9-312(A).**

STATEMENT OF CASE

The subject property in this Appeal is located at 12 Park Road, Hilton Head Island, South Carolina. Two building structures exist on the property. (R. p. 193). The front building is the main house on the property. The rear structure is an accessory structure equipped with beds and toilet facilities. The rear structure has no stove for cooking. The rear structure is entirely dependent on the main house facility for access to the rear structure and for cooking and privacy. One can only access the rear building through the main house and all cooking must be done in the main house. When rented by the Sherriers, both buildings are rented as a single unit to a single party. Both buildings have been taxed as a single unit. (R. p. 203).

The rear structure has existed for decades and has been continuously used in conjunction with the main house as a dwelling. (R. p. 193). Mark Piper, the prior owner of the property, purchased the property in 1985. Eventually, Piper sold the property to the Sherriers in 2020. (R. p. 193). Shortly after the Sherriers purchased the property, a team of disgruntled neighbors, who objected to the Sherriers' use of their legally acquired property, initiated a campaign against the Sherriers for reasons unrelated to flooding. (R. pp. 170–173). Indeed, in the decades of use, there is no record of any flood issues, notwithstanding it being at the lowest grade in the surrounding residential property.

Based on numerous Freedom of Information Act requests, the Sherriers uncovered a coordinated effort among these neighbors and certain officials for the Town of Hilton Head (Town) throughout 2021. (R. pp. 170–173). On each occasion when the neighbors repeatedly insisted the Town take action, the Town reported back to them after the Town's attorneys had essentially turned "over every rock," failing to find the Sherriers' rear structure was in violation of any Town ordinance. (R. p. 310). These interactions nevertheless continued, and in January 2022, after

months of pressure, the Town reversed course and issued the violation at the center of this Appeal. The citation was issued notwithstanding the Town's thoroughly researched and prior determination that no violation existed.

On April 7, 2021, Diane Busch, staff attorney for the Town of Hilton Head Island, wrote in response to a neighbor's complaint:

[W]e are not FEMA, and we have no authority to enforce Federal guidelines or regulations. The town is authorized to enforce our ordinances and LMO, and I have shared our position with you several times. Thank you so much for your understanding that this issue has been thoroughly researched and considered. If you wish to pursue further, we have an Island full of reputable and experienced real estate lawyers who might offer a different perspective.

(R. p. 171 (emphasis added)).

On March 29, 2021, Wendy Conant, Code Enforcement Officer for the Town of Hilton Head Island, wrote to Diane Busch regarding a neighbor's complaint:

I am happy to call her and advise no violations. But she will probably go to the Town Council.

This woman is continuing to complain about 12 Park Road.... There are no code violations at this time, but I imagine this is not going away.

(R. p. 171).

On February 15, 2022, Chris Yates, Development Services Manager for the Town of Hilton Head Island, wrote that the neighbors' continued complaints appeared to be "borderline harassment." (R. p. 171).

There are many emails between Town Officials and their attorneys confirming that the Town determined after thorough review that no violation existed. (R. pp. 171–172, 177–179, 181–183, 185, 187). Indeed, during a remodel, a building inspector informed the Sherriers they would need to remove any stove in the rear structure to avoid issuance of a violation. Once the Town determined no stove was present, the Sherriers passed the inspection. (R. p. 182).

As disclosed in the FOIA production, all communications among the Town Officials themselves indicate the Town of Hilton Head Island did not consider the Sherriers' rear structure in violation of any Town ordinances. Despite the Town's repeated opinion of no violation, on January 7, 2022, in a complete reversal of position, the Town issued a Notice of Violation alleging the rear structure was in violation of Municipal Code of The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina, Section 15-9-312(a) (1983) (Section 15-9-312(a) or Ordinance). (R. p. 216).

The Sherriers appealed the Notice of Violation to the construction Board of Adjustments & Appeals (CBAA). Mr. Sherrier appeared at a May 24, 2022 hearing before the CBAA and presented the Sherriers' case. On June 7, 2022, the CBAA issued its Notice of Action denying the Sherriers' appeal. (R. p. 312–313). The Sherriers appealed the CBAA decision to the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas Circuit Court pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-10. The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes III denied the Sherrier's appeal in a May 5, 2023 (Order). Appellants served a timely Notice of Appeal of the Order on June 2, 2023.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on appeal from a local government review board has been stated by the South Carolina Supreme Court as follows:

This Court will not reverse the findings of a county review board unless the board's findings have no evidentiary support, or the board has committed an error of law. *Charleston Cty. Parks & Recreation Comm'n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995). In the zoning context, a decision of the reviewing body will not be disturbed if there is evidence in the record to support its decision. *Peterson Outdoor Advert. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 327 S.C. 230, 235, 489 S.E.2d 630, 632 (1997). Indeed, we will not substitute our judgment for that of the reviewing body, even if we disagree with the decision. *Talbot v. Myrtle Beach Bd. of Adjustment*, 222 S.C. 165, 173, 72 S.E.2d 66, 70 (1952). "However, the decision of the zoning board will not be upheld where it is based on errors of law." *Hodge v. Pollock*, 223 S.C. 342, 348, 75 S.E.2d 752, 754 (1953). Instead, "a decision of a municipal zoning board will be overturned if it is arbitrary, capricious,

has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose, or if the board has abused its discretion.” *Rest. Row Assocs. v. Horry Cty.*, 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999).

Grays Hill Baptist Church v. Beaufort Cty., 431 S.C. 630, 637, 850 S.E.2d 29, 33 (2020) (internal quotation marks omitted).

As to interpretation of ordinances, according to South Carolina law, “[a]lthough great deference is accorded the decisions of those charged with interpreting and applying local zoning ordinances . . . a broader and more independent review is permitted when the issue concerns the construction of an ordinance.” Charleston Cty. Parks & Rec. Comm’n v. Somers, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995). South Carolina’s appellate law concerning statutes offers further guidance to interpreting local ordinances:

In construing statutory language, the statute must be read as a whole, and sections which are part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect, if it can be done by any reasonable construction. *Higgins v. State*, 307 S.C. 446, 449, 415 S.E.2d 799, 801 (1992). *See also Jackson v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 316 S.C. 177, 181, 447 S.E.2d 859, 861 (1994) (“The true guide to statutory construction is not the phraseology of an isolated section or provision, but the language of the statute as a whole considered in the light of its manifest purpose.”).

Ray Bell Constr. Co. v. School Dist., 331 S.C. 19, 27–28, 501 S.E.2d 725, 730 (1998). *See also* Murphy v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 396 S.C. 633, 640, 723 S.E.2d 191, 195 (2012) (“Regulations are interpreted using the same rules of construction as statutes.”). The South Carolina Supreme Court has also stated the following: “issues involved in the construction of an ordinance are reviewed as a matter of law under a broader standard of review applied in reviewing issues of fact.” Mikell v. City of Charleston, 386 S.C. 153, 158, 687 S.E. 2d 326, 329 (2009).

When dealing with ordinance provisions, South Carolina courts have stated the following:

Further, where two provisions deal with the same issue, one in a general and the other in a more specific and definite manner, the more specific prevails. *Capco of Summerville v. J.H. Gayle Constr. Co., Inc.*, 368 S.C. 137, 628 S.E.2d 38

(2006). *See also Wooten ex rel. Wooten v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 333 S.C. 464, 468, 511 S.E.2d 355, 357 (1999) (specific statutory provision prevails over a more general one); *Atlas Food Sys. & Servs., Inc. v. Crane Nat'l Vendors Div. of Unidynamics Corp.*, 319 S.C. 556, 558, 462 S.E.2d 858, 859 (1995) (general rule of statutory construction is that a specific statute prevails over a more general one). When reviewing issues involving the construction of an ordinance, the determination of legislative intent is a matter of law. *Eagle Container, supra*.

Id. at 160, 687 S.E.2d at 330.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT SECTION 15-9-312(A) APPLIES TO THE REAR STRUCTURE ON THE SHERRIER PROPERTY.

In relying on the Town's incorrect reading of the subject ordinance, the entire lower court's ruling is tainted by an error of law.

A. Lower Court Ruling

In denying the Sherriers' CBAA appeal, the lower court continually refers to the term "residential living space." (*See* R. pp. 2–16). From the outset, the lower court incorrectly framed the issue: "The nature of the violation is that the accessory structure was converted to residential living space after September 30, 1977." (R. p. 3). From the outset, the lower court accepted, ostensibly as a matter of law, the Town's incorrect reading of the subject ordinance as set forth in the Town's May 24, 2022 Staff Report: "The structure at 12 Park Road is a structure unlawfully being used for habitation in violation of [Section 15-9-312(a)]." (R. p. 214.)

Based on and recasting the finding of "habitation," the lower court erred by reconstruing Section 15-9-312(a): "A change in the use of the accessory structure to residential living space must be done in conformity to the building code as adopted by the Town, and in conformity to § 15-9-312(a)." (R. p. 7). The lower court continued: "the only evidence in the record [shows] that the conversion of the accessory structure to residential living space was after 1985." (R. p. 8 , n.

27). In essence, the lower court itself failed to correct an error of law committed by the CBAA, instead adopting the CBAA's error of law as a matter of law.

Section 15-9-312(a) which reads as follows:

Residential construction. New construction and substantial improvement of any residential structure (including manufactured homes) must be constructed so the lowest floor, is elevated no lower than three (3) feet above the base flood elevation or thirteen (13) feet above mean sea level using NAVD88, whichever is higher.

As is evident by a quick reading of the ordinance, the terms "habitation," or "habitable living space," or "residential living space," appear nowhere in the ordinance.

B. Preservation of Issue

In its Notice of Appeal to the Circuit Court (Circuit Court Appeal), the Sherriers stated the issue as follows: "Whether the CBAA erred in determining that Section 15-9-312(a) is applicable to the rear structure." (R. p. 19). During the lower court hearing, counsel for the Sherriers continually noted to the lower court that the Town improperly referenced the term "habitable space" as a term used in Section 15-9-312(a). (R. p. 320, line 6–p. 322, line 18). Therefore, the issue was clearly raised to the lower court and preserved for this Court's review.

C. Improper Construction of Section 15-9-312(a)

By substituting the term "residential living space" for "habitable space," the lower court failed to correct the CBAA's error of law, instead committing its own error of law by inserting a term into Section 15-9-312(a). Contrary to the lower court's interpretation, the wording of Section 15-9-312(a) is concise, and its meaning and scope is unambiguous. Significantly, the Building Code itself defines the relevant terms of the Ordinance, a definition which aids this Court in its determination of the legislative intent in its drafting and the Ordinance's applicability to the Sherriers' property. It is well established that a legislative body has the power within reasonable

limitations to prescribe legal definitions of its own language, and when an Act passed by it embodies the definition, that definition generally binds the courts. *See Windham v. Pace*, 6 S.E.2d 270, 275, 192 S.C. 271, 283 (1939).

The critical terms of Section 15-9-312(a) are defined in the Town of Hilton Head's Land Management Ordinance (LMO): "new construction," "substantial improvement to any residential structure," "residential use," and "dwelling." The Hilton Head Municipal Building Code 15-9-119 defines "new construction" as the "start of construction commenced on or after September 30, 1977." This definition limits the applicability of 15-9-312(a) to the start of construction of a residential structure after September 30, 1977. Thus, the legislative intent was to avoid *ex post facto* and due process constitutional challenges. The only evidence presented to the CBAA and the lower court was that the Sherriers' rear structure was built prior to September 30, 1977. (R. p. 203).

Based on the above evidence and clear intent of the Ordinance, the Ordinance only applies to the Sherriers' rear structure if it qualifies as a residential structure that was substantially improved after September 30, 1977. While the lower court substituted its own terminology into the Ordinance to find that the Sherriers substantially improved a residential structure after September 30, 1977, this Court has the authority to undertake a "broader and more independent review . . . of an ordinance." *Charleston Cty. Parks & Rec. Comm'n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995). Further, in conducting its review, South Carolina law requires an appellate court to "read [an ordinance] as a whole, and sections which are part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect, if it can be done by any reasonable construction." *Higgins v. State*, 307 S.C. 446, 449, 415 S.E.2d 799, 801 (1992). Additionally, "where two provisions deal with the same issue, one in a general and the other in a

more specific and definite manner, the more specific prevails.” Capco of Summerville v. J.H. Gayle Constr. Co., Inc., 368 S.C. 137, 628 S.E.2d 38 (2006).

Both before the CBAA and the lower court, the Sherriers argued the subject rear structure is not a “residential” construction as required by the Ordinance. (R. p. 240, line 5–p. 241, line 7; p. 242, line 23–p. 243, line 24; p. 244, line 11–p. 262, line 6; R. pp. 23–27). Because the CBAA and the lower court ignored the argument below, the Sherriers reiterate their argument as follows.

It is clear that the legislative intent of Section 15-9-312 (a) is that it only applies to “residential construction.” The significance of the application of the Ordinance to only residential structures evidences the intent of the legislature that the Ordinance would not apply to every structure on Hilton Head Island. If such were intended by the legislature, the scope of the Ordinance would not have been proscribed or limited to only residential structures. Therefore, one must determine what definition of residential must have been intended by the legislature.

First, one can reason that if the legislators meant it to include any structure, the use of “residential” would be contradictory since it would create a limited scope. Further, one must conclude that in using the term residential a specific definition was contemplated by the legislators, so to avoid indiscriminate application of the Ordinance, and more importantly to avoid applying the Ordinances to unintended structures.

As discussed above, the Respondents argue the intention was to apply the Ordinance to any “habitable living space;” for its part, the lower court’s ruling hinged on the application of the Ordinance to any “residential living space.” Again, if the intention was to apply the Ordinance to structures which are habitable or are considered “living space,” these terms could have been used. Use of such terms would result in applying the Ordinance to a vast majority of structures, since

many structures can be inhabited or lived in. If the intention was to apply the Ordinance to any habitable or living space, there would have been no need to use the term residential.

In this instance, a court need not speculate as to the intended definition of “residential structure.” The Hilton Head Land Management Ordinance (LMO), Section 16-10-103, Use Classification Definitions Subsection A defines “residential uses”: “The Residential *Uses* classification is primarily characterized by the residential occupancy of a *dwelling unit* by a household.” (Emphasis in original.) The LMO Administration Section 15-1-302 provides the following:

The latest edition of the International Building Code and the International Residential Code . . . as adopted by the South Carolina Building Code Council are hereby adopted as the minimum standard for the construction, alteration, use, demolition and removal of buildings or other structures, or any appurtenances connected or attached thereto with effective dates established by the South Carolina Building Code Council. A copy of each code is hereby made a part of this chapter as fully and completely as if the same were set out herein verbatim. A copy of each code is on file in the office of the municipal clerk.

The 2021 International Building Code (IBC) Chapter 2 Definitions, Section 202 defines a “Dwelling Unit” as a “single unit providing complete, independent living facilities for one or more persons, including permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation.” Based on Section 15-1-302 of the LMO, the Town has adopted the IBC definition of “dwelling unit.” As demonstrated by the Town’s correspondence, the Town understood the IBC definition provided the scope of Section 15-9-312(a)’s applicability. (R. pp. 199, 216–217).

South Carolina appellate courts have employed the above reasoning in other previous cases. In Grant v. City of Folly Beach, 346 S.C. 74, 551 S.E.2d 229 (2001), the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed the meaning of the term “residential” in its application to the City of

Folly Beach’s flood Ordinance.¹ The Grant court examined the applicability of the municipalities’ zoning/flood ordinance regarding a “residential” structure located in in a two-story building with three apartments on the second floor and three units on the ground floor. Id. at 76, 551 S.E.2d at 230. One of the ground units had a bath, kitchen, wall heater, and air conditioner. Id. One unit contained only a kitchen. Id. The municipality had advised the property owner that “since less than 75% of this structure is devoted to residential use, it is classified as a non-residential structure.” Id. at 77, 551 S.E.2d at 230. The owner, however, installed a bathroom and kitchen in the final ground unit. Id. Based on these improvements, the city determined that a kitchen in the lower unit converted those units to residential units which altered the percentage of residential to non-residential. Id. at 77, 551 S.E.2d at 230–31. Because the kitchen converted the units to a residential structure, the City determined that the ground units had to be evacuated and the kitchens removed. Id. at 77–78, 551 S.E.2d at 231.²

¹ Though not specifically addressed by the Grant Court, the ordinances at issue in *Grant* are substantially similar to the ordinances at issue in the instant appeal:

Folly Beach Code of Ordinances Section 150.002

(A) The latest edition of the mandatory building codes as adopted by the SC Building Codes Council and shall be enforced at all times within the corporate limits of the City of Folly Beach as follows:

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