THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 27 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

HON. MARVIN H. DUKES, III  
MASTER IN EQUITY AND SPECIAL CIRCUIT JUDGE

---

CASE NUMBER 2023-000891

---

ERIC AND TRACY SHERRIER,

APPELLANTS,

VS.

THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND CONSTRUCTION BOARD OF  
ADJUSTMENT AND APPEALS AND THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND,  
SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENTS.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS

---

Curtis L. Coltrane  
COLTRANE & WILKINS, LLC  
South Carolina Bar Number 1344  
Post Office Box 6808  
Hilton Head Island, SC 29938  
(843) 785-5551

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

(iii) Shari Mendrick testified that 12 Park Road is in the special flood hazard area and the accessory structure was converted to habitable residential living space without a permit.<sup>49</sup>

---

<sup>48</sup> CBAA Record on Appeal, p. 53, R. p. 214.

<sup>49</sup> CBAA Record on Appeal, p. 112, l. 25 to p. 114, l. 8, R. p. 273, l. 25 to p. 275, l. 8. The Sherriers argue that the accessory structure does not qualify as a “dwelling unit” under the Town’s Land Management Ordinance [*Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C., Mun. Code*, § 16-10-105], and argue that the terms “habitable” and “residential” are not defined in the Flood Damage Control ordinance. These arguments miss the point for two reasons:

(a) *Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C., Mun. Code*, § 15-9-312(a), is in a different chapter of the Town’s municipal code (Title 15 as opposed to Title 16); and,

(b) The Sherriers admit that the use of accessory structure is residential. Mr. Sherrier testified: “I will only be referring to the rear structure as a bedroom and a rec room as these are the words that were used by the town officials and neighbors . . .” CBAA Record on Appeal, p. 76, l. 21-25, R. p. 237, l. 21-25. The Sherriers do not claim that the use of the accessory structure is anything other than residential.

(iv) The staff report shows that the accessory structure is slab on grade and does not meet the lowest floor requirements of *Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C., Mun. Code*, § 15-9-312(a).<sup>50</sup>

Any or all of this evidence in the record supports the finding that the accessory structure does not meet the lowest floor requirements of *Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C., Mun. Code*, § 15-9 312(a). The decision of an administrative board will not be disturbed if there is any evidence in the record supporting it.<sup>51</sup> There is no evidence in the record that the accessory structure complies with the requirements of *Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C., Mun. Code*, § 15-9-312(a).

---

<sup>50</sup> CBAA Record on Appeal, p. 53, R. p. 214.

<sup>51</sup> *Peterson Outdoor Advertising v. City of Myrtle Beach, supra.*

## ARGUMENT NUMBER 2

THE PLAIN TEXT OF THE TOWN'S FLOOD DAMAGE CONTROLS ORDINANCE SHOWS THAT IT APPLIES TO 12 PARK ROAD. (Statement of Issues Presented Number 2).

On appeal, the Circuit Court can correct errors of law. In this case, there is no error of law. The plain text of *Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C., Mun. Code*, § 15-9-113, is that it applies to all areas in the Town. The plain text of *Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C., Mun. Code*, § 15-9-312(a), is that it applies to all areas in Flood Zone AE, and 12 Park Road is in Flood Zone AE.

The Sherriers argue that this ordinance is inapplicable to 12 Park Road for a variety of reasons, all of which ignore the plain language of the ordinances, which is that they apply to: “. . . all areas in the Town,” and to “. . . all areas within zones AE . . .” The Sherriers do not argue that 12 Park Road is not in flood zone AE, and the Sherriers presented no evidence to show that 12 Park Road is not in flood zone AE. There is no error of law because the plain text of the ordinances is that they apply in “all areas” of the Town and flood zone AE.<sup>52</sup>

---

<sup>52</sup> In Argument Number 1 in their Brief, the Sherriers argue that the conclusion of the CBAA and Judge Dukes that *Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C., Mun. Code*, § 15-9-312(a), applies to 12 Park Road is erroneous because the words “residential living space” and habitation do not appear in the ordinance and that the ordinance only applies to “residential construction.” This argument misses the point, which is that the use of the accessory structure changed after September 30, 1977. The only evidence in the record is that the use of the structure changed from storage and office uses to residential use sometime after the year 1985 and there is evidence that the Sherriers themselves made material improvements to the accessory structure after 2020. The ordinance applies when the use of a structure is changed or material improvements are made to a structure, which is precisely what happened to the accessory structure at 12 Park Road. (See Argument Number 1).

The only evidence in the record is that the use of the accessory structure changed after September 30, 1977, and that substantial improvements were made to it after that time.

### ARGUMENT NUMBER 3

THE SHERRIERS ARGUMENT NUMBER II IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW AND THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF EVIDENCE DO NOT APPLY TO HEARINGS BEFORE THE CBAA. [Statement of Issues Presented 3 and 3(a)]

**(a) This issue is not preserved for appellate review.**

The Sherriers did not raise any issue regarding the admissibility of the evidence before the CBAA in their Amended Notice of Appeal to Circuit Court.<sup>53</sup> There is no ruling

---

<sup>53</sup> The Sherriers did not make any contemporaneous objection to any of the evidence that was presented at the CBAA hearing. See Transcript of Hearing, R. pp. 223-289. The evidence at issue is a statement from Maryanne Perri Jackson. In their Amended Notice of Appeal, the only issue raised about it is that there was other contradictory evidence. Amended Notice of Appeal, p. 11, R. p. 68.

Although not mentioned by the Sherriers in their Brief, on September 6, 2023, the Sherriers filed a Reply to the Return of the CBAA and the Town. In the Reply, the Sherriers attempted to raise an issue regarding a statement from Maryanne Perri Jackson, but the issue made out is authenticity, not hearsay. Reply, pp. 5-7, R. pp. 128-130. The issue regarding the statement of Ms. Perri Jackson was not properly before Judge Dukes because the Reply, in which this issue was raised, was filed more than thirty days from the receipt of the Notice of Action. S. C. Code Ann. § 18-7-20 (Supp. 2023) reads:

The appellant, within thirty days after written notice of judgment has been given him or his attorney by the magistrate, recorder, or judge of the municipal court, except when the judgment is announced at the trial in the presence of the appellant or his attorney then no written notice is necessary, shall serve a notice of appeal, stating the grounds upon which the appeal is founded. (emphasis added)

This situation is indistinguishable from that in *Austin v. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C. 29, 37, 606 S.E.2d 209, 213 (Ct. App. 2004). The procedures governing appeals are set out in S. C. Code Ann. § 18-7-20 (Supp. 2023). The statute requires that the grounds for the appeal be stated in a notice of appeal filed within thirty days, and there is no provision for amendment of the grounds.

The Sherriers do point to text in the argument before Judge Dukes, where the Sherriers' counsel makes mention of the one item, however, there is no specific objection based on hearsay, and counsel for the Sherriers did not ask for a ruling on the hearsay question. See Circuit Court Hearing Transcript, p. 9, l. 3-16, R. p. 323, l. 16 to p. 324, l. 7. Indeed, Counsel appears to state: "Again, ultimately, that does not seem today. A critical

in the May 5, 2022, Order Dismissing Appeal on any question related to hearsay evidence or the use of it by the CBAA. The Sherriers did not file a Rule 59, SCRCF, motion seeking a ruling on this issue.

When an appellant neither raises an issue at trial nor through a Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.<sup>54</sup> It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the [circuit court] to be preserved for appellate review.<sup>55</sup>

Because the Sherriers did not present this issue to Judge Dukes and have it ruled on by him, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.

**(b) The South Carolina rules of Evidence do not apply to hearings before the CBAA.**

In their argument number “II” the Sherriers argue that the CBAA relied on inadmissible hearsay evidence in reaching its decision on the Sherriers’ appeal. The Sherriers point to Rule 802, SCRE, in support of their argument. The Sherriers admit on page 15 of their brief that there is no law supporting their position. There is, however, law that refutes it. Rule 101, SCRE reads:

---

point for us.” (See Circuit Court Hearing Transcript, p. 9, l. 14, R. p. 324, l. 4 - 5. The May 5, 2023, Order does not include a ruling on the hearsay question, and no Rule 59, SCRCF, motion seeking a ruling was made.

<sup>54</sup> *Ness v. Eckerd Corp.*, 350 S.C. 399, 403-04, 566 S.E.2d 193, 196 (Ct. App. 2002).

<sup>55</sup> *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

Except as otherwise provided by rule or by statute, these rules govern proceedings in the courts of South Carolina to the extent and with the exceptions stated in Rule 1101.<sup>56</sup>

The CBAA is not a “court of South Carolina,” and the Sherriers show no support for their argument that the South Carolina Rules of Evidence apply to hearings of the CBAA.

In addition, both the CBAA and Judge Dukes relied on other evidence as well as that

---

<sup>56</sup> There is nothing in Rule 1101, SCRE, making it applicable to hearings before the CBAA. Rule 1101(a), SCRE, reads:

- a) Courts and Judges. Except as otherwise provided by rule or statute, these rules apply to the courts of South Carolina. The term “judge” in these rules includes justices of the Supreme Court; judges of the Court of Appeals; judges of the circuit, family, probate and municipal courts; magistrates; masters-in-equity; and special referees.
- (b) Proceedings Generally. These rules apply generally to civil actions and proceedings, to criminal cases and proceedings, and to contempt proceedings except those in which the court may act summarily.
- (c) Rule of Privilege. The rule with respect to privileges applies at all stages of all actions, cases, and proceedings.
- (d) Rules Inapplicable. The rules (other than with respect to privileges) do not apply in the following situations:
  - (1) Preliminary Questions of Fact. The determination of questions of fact preliminary to admissibility of evidence when the issue is to be determined by the court under Rule 104.
  - (2) Grand Jury. Proceedings before grand juries.
  - (3) Miscellaneous Proceedings. Proceedings for extradition; preliminary hearings in criminal cases; sentencing (except in the penalty phase of capital trials as required by statute), dispositional hearings in juvenile delinquency matters, or granting or revoking probation; issuance of warrants for arrest, criminal summonses, and search warrants; and proceedings with respect to release on bail or otherwise.

which is challenged in this argument, most of which was presented by the Sherriers' themselves. Even if the CBAA and Judge Dukes had excluded the evidence which is complained of, there is still evidence in the record that supports the decision of the CBAA and Judge Dukes.<sup>57</sup> Where there is evidence in the record that supports the findings, there is no basis for reversal.<sup>58</sup>

---

<sup>57</sup> See Argument 1, *supra*.

<sup>58</sup> *Charleston Cnty. Parks & Recreation Comm'n v. Somers, supra*.

## ARGUMENT NUMBER 4

THE SHERRIERS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THEY (1) LACKED KNOWLEDGE OR THE MEANS OF KNOWLEDGE THAT *TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND, S. C. , MUN. CODE*, § 15-9-312(A) APPLIED TO 12 PARK ROAD; (2) CONDUCT OF THE GOVERNMENT INDUCED THEM TO BELIEVE THAT *TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND, S. C. , MUN. CODE*, § 15-9-312(A) DID NOT APPLY TO 12 PARK ROAD; AND, THE SHERRIERS MADE A PREJUDICIAL CHANGE IN POSITION ON SUCH RELIANCE. (Statement of Issues Presented Number 4).

The Sherriers also argue that the Town is estopped to enforce *Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C. , Mun. Code*, § 15-9-312(a), against 12 Park Road. The Sherriers' estoppel argument is based on the following facts:

1. The Sherriers completed un-permitted work at 12 Park Road for which they received citations.<sup>59</sup>
2. Among other things, the un-permitted work by Sherriers included the installation of heating and air conditioning units (mini splits) and a stove in the accessory structure.<sup>60</sup>
3. The installation of the stove meant that the accessory structure would be counted as a separate dwelling unit on a single family lot which was a violation of the Town's Land Management Ordinance [*Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C. , Mun. Code*, § 16-1-101, *et seq.*].<sup>61</sup>

---

<sup>59</sup> CBAA Record on Appeal, pp. 51 - 52, R. pp. 212 - 213.

<sup>60</sup> CBAA Record on Appeal, pp. 51 - 52, R. pp. 212 - 213.

<sup>61</sup> CBAA Record on Appeal, pp. 51 - 52, R. pp. 212 - 213.

4. The Sherriers rectified the violations by taking steps to obtain permits for the unpermitted heating and air work, plead guilty on the citations, and removed the stove to resolve the zoning violation.<sup>62</sup>

The Sherriers' claim is that they changed their position to their detriment by resolving the zoning violations. The resolution of the Sherriers' citations is not a detrimental change in position, and the Sherriers cite no authority for this proposition. Second, the Sherriers do not contend that they either bought 12 Park Road or made the substantial improvements to 12 Park Road because anyone connected with the Town advised them that *Town of Hilton Head Island, S. C. , Mun. Code*, § 15-9-312(a), does not apply to 12 Park Road or the accessory structure.

As a general rule, estoppel does not lie against the government to prevent the due exercise of its police power or to thwart the application of public policy. To prove estoppel against the government, the relying party must prove: (1) the lack of knowledge and of the means of knowledge of the truth of the facts in question; (2) justifiable reliance upon the government's conduct; and (3) a prejudicial change in position.<sup>63</sup>

The Sherriers cannot prove an estoppel because they cannot show any detrimental reliance on any statement that made by the Town that the Flood Damage Control ordinance did not apply to 12 Park Road.<sup>60</sup> Also, the Sherriers cannot demonstrate a lack of means of

---

<sup>62</sup> CBAA Record on Appeal, pp. 51 - 52, R. pp. 212 - 213.

<sup>63</sup> *S. C. Department of Transportation v. Horry County*, 391 S.C. 76, 83, 705 S.E.2d 21, 25 (2011).

<sup>60</sup> In addition to showing that a Town official made such a statement (which they have not), the Sherriers would also have to show that the person making the statement had the authority to make it. *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cnty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 238, 692

knowledge as to the Town's flood ordinance because the Town code is a matter of public record.<sup>61</sup> Ignorance of the law cannot operate as the basis of an estoppel.<sup>62</sup>

---

S.E.2d 499, 507 (2010).

<sup>61</sup> See also: *Grant v. City of Folly Beach*, 346 S.C. 74, 82, 551 S.E.2d 229, 233 (2001), where the Supreme Court reviewed an argument similar to that made by the Sherriers, and held that the City of Folly Beach was not estopped from enforcing its flood ordinance, even though building permits were issued. The Supreme Court held:

In this case, City issued a building permit for work in "Downstairs Apt. # 1." Assuming the permit's reference to an "apartment" misled Grant into believing residential use was permitted in Unit A, issuance of the permit does not estop City from enforcing its zoning/flood ordinance which precludes residential use of the downstairs floor. Grant could have easily ascertained the flood limitations on his building by reviewing the zoning/flood ordinance.

<sup>62</sup> *Bradley v. Rodelsperger*, 17 S.C. 9 (1882).

## CONCLUSION

The CBAA and Judge Dukes both found as matters of fact that the accessory structure at 12 Park Road was converted to habitable residential living space after September 30, 1977, and that the conversion was not in compliance with the Town's Flood Damage Control ordinance. There is evidence in the record supporting the findings. The CBAA and Judge Dukes both concluded that the Town's Flood Damage Control ordinance applied to 12 Park Road, and there is no error of law in this conclusion. The Sherriers failed to demonstrate that any basis for an estoppel against the Town exists. The Sherriers' argument regarding hearsay evidence relied on by the CBAA and Judge Dukes is not preserved, and there is other evidence in the record supporting the decision of the CBAA and Judge Dukes. For these reasons, The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina, and The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina, Board of Zoning Appeals urge this Court to affirm the May 5, 2023, Order of the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III.